ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE TRANSPORTATI ON STANDI NG COWM TTEE
April 8, 2003
1:34 p.m

MVEMBERS PRESENT

Senat or John Cowdery, Chair

Senat or Thomas Wagoner, Vice Chair
Senat or CGene Therri aul t

Senat or Ceor gi anna Li ncoln

Senat or Donny d son

MEMBERS ABSENT

Al l nmenbers present
COWM TTEE CALENDAR

SENATE BI LL NO. 140

"An Act relating to directional signs to places of public
assenbly. "
SCHEDULED BUT NOT HEARD
SENATE BILL NO 98
"An Act relating to civil liability for guest passengers on an

aircraft or watercraft; and providing for an effective date."

MOVED CSSB 98( TRA) QUT OF COW TTEE
PREVI QUS ACTI ON
SB 98 - No previous action to record.
W TNESS REG STER

Senat or Con Bunde

Al aska State Capitol

Juneau, AK 99801-1182

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Sponsor of SB 98

Ms. Marsha Davi s
ERA Avi ati on
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on SB 98

M. Tom Ceorge

Aircraft Owmers & Pilots Associ ation
PO Box 83750

Fai r banks, AK 99708

SENATE TRA COW TTEE -1- Apri |

8, 2003



POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supports SB 98

M. Felix MQuire

Pr esi dent

Al aska Airnen's' Associ ation

PO Box 241185

Anchor age, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supports SB 98

M. John George
Juneau, AK
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on SB 98

ACTI ON NARRATI VE
TAPE 03-13, SIDE A

CHAIR JOHN COMNDERY called the Senate Transportation Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 1:34 p.m Senators Wagoner, J son
and Chair Cowdery were present. Senators Therriault and Lincoln
arrived nonentarily. He announced that the sponsor of SB 140
requested that it not be heard that day and that SB 98 was
before the commttee.

SB  98-LIABILITY: PLANE AND BOAT PASSENGERS

SENATOR CON BUNDE, sponsor of SB 98, told nenbers the nicknane
of this bill is the "Good Neighbor Bill." Right now, boat and
ai rpl ane owners cannot afford to be a good nei ghbor and offer to
take a friend for a boat or plane ride because, iif an
unf or eseeabl e accident occurs that does not involve negligence
or illegal activities, the "good neighbor" could |ose his or her
estate. Sone people have suggested that a guest could sign a
wai ver accepting sonme of the liability but, it is a proven |ega

fact that another person's interest cannot be suborned. A guest
could sign away his right to sue but not his famly's or
enpl oyer's right to sue. The purpose of SB 98 is to clarify that
t he people who accept an opportunity to travel as a passenger on
a non-comrercial outing accept sone of the inherent risks.

SENATOR BUNDE noted that common |aw recognizes that certain
activities involve inherent risks and that participants should
take some of the responsibility for injuries sustained while
participating in those activities. He stressed that he 1is
referring to an inherent risk that does not involve negligence,
intentional msconduct or illegal activities. SB 98 wll not
absolve owners of their responsibility to mintain their

SENATE TRA COW TTEE - 2- April 8, 2003



equi pnment in a safe and prudent manner. SB 98 only applies to
privately owned planes and boats, not to commercial activities.
In his opinion, SB 98 wll discourage frivolous, expensive
| awsuits and help contain rising insurance costs.

SENATOR BUNDE pointed out that SB 98 does provide that if an
owner has insurance, the owner cannot be sued beyond the limts
of that policy. If the owner does not obtain insurance, the
owner nust notify the passengers of that l|ack of insurance and
that the passengers nust assune sonme of the risk. He inforned
menbers that a proposed comittee substitute (CS) was in
menbers' packets. It contains an additional section that applies
to the Alaska Boating Safety Act, which is necessary to clarify
that SB 98 only applies to non-commercial aircraft and boats. He
of fered to answer questi ons.

CHAIR COADERY then pointed out that this sanme issue was
contenplated by the Thirteenth Legislature to address the
| awsuit problem He asked what would happen if a pilot in a
privately owned airplane |anded to assist soneone in distress
and was not able to informthat person of the liability issue.

SENATOR BUNDE said if the pilot has insurance, nothing 1is
required. Unfortunately, the pilot would have to inform the
passenger that he or she would have to assune sonme of the risk

CHAI R COADERY asked if Senator Bunde expects owners to use a
standard formto inform passengers.

SENATOR BUNDE sai d he was unsure of that then stated:

As an individual, you mght want to check wth what
you're confortable wth. | don't think the state
necessarily should come up with a standard form And,
when you're talking about witten, as | read - as this
IS - t he [l egislation] IS pr oposed, ver ba
notification is adequate. If | mght ask - use - an
exanple that Senator O son pointed out to me, he's out
doing sonmething in rural Al aska, sonebody needs to get
to town or the doctor, and he, as a non-comercial
operator, could give thema ride to town. Wthout this
| egislation in effect, however, he puts his equipnment
and hinself in great jeopardy even though he's just
trying to be a Good Samaritan.

CHAIR CONDERY said he believes SB 98 is very nmuch needed. He
told nenbers that he intended to put defibrillator nachines on

SENATE TRA COW TTEE - 3- April 8, 2003



every floor of the Capitol Building until he found out there
could be a liability issue involved with their use.

SENATOR THERRI AULT referred to |anguage on page 2, line 16-26
and asked if a person with insurance is only liable up to the
policy limt.

SENATOR BUNDE said that is correct.

SENATOR THERRI AULT asked why a boat owner wouldn't just buy the
cheapest policy with the lowest limts. He expressed concern
that section encourages people to carry a mninmum anmount of
i nsur ance.

SENATOR BUNDE said that is what the situation is now, if one can
even get insurance. It is very difficult to get and very
expensive. He has learned from his past experience in comerci al
aviation that nost people feel they are underinsured if they do
not have at least $1 nmillion of coverage for each seat. The
other option is to have no insurance at all.

SENATOR LINCOLN referred to |anguage on page 2, line 10, and
asked the difference between the ternms "gross negligence" and
"negl i gence."

SENATOR BUNDE explained that gross negligence, reckless or
i ntentional m sconduct are synonynous.

M5. KAREN MCARTHY, staff to Senator Bunde, added the bil
drafter said that the ternms "gross negligence, recklessness, or
intentional msconduct” are comonly wused in civil liability
statutes in Alaska law and are commonly recognized by the
courts.

SENATOR LINCOLN asked if there is any difference between
negl i gence and gross negligence.

M5. MARSHA DAVIS, Ceneral Counsel for ERA Aviation, explained
that negligence is a nuch |ower standard. Innocent m stakes or

sinple negligence wll be immune from liability under SB 98.
Gross negligence is the next step up and will be excluded from
immunity. The next levels are reckless or outrageous behavior
and intentional m sconduct. She said that M. MCarthy is

correct in that gross negligence or reckless or intentional
m sconduct is the general standard [applied when considering]
the liability of people who render assistance. She noted the

SENATE TRA COW TTEE -4- April 8, 2003



sane phrase is used in AS 09.65.090, which is the Good Sanaritan
| aw.

1:47 p. m

SENATOR LINCOLN asked Senator Bunde what the Alaska Boating
Associ ation neant by the sentence in its letter of support that
reads:

Al askans are involved in a high rate of boating
accidents wth personal injury and death to both
operators and passengers - one of the results is high
i nsurance rates.

She said that insurance rates and acci dents do not correl ate.

SENATOR BUNDE agreed that insurance coverage isS not causing
accidents, but the nore clains filed, the higher the rates.
Accordingly, the nore accidents, the nore clains filed.

SENATOR LINCOLN said if that statenent is, in fact, true, the
Legi sl ature should | ook at the cause of the accidents.

SENATOR BUNDE recalled the Legislature worked on boating safety
| egi slation |ast year because of the high nunber of accidents.
Unfortunately, a lot of accidents involve alcohol. He pointed
out a drunk person who has a boat accident would be charged with
gross negligence and woul d not be absolved fromliability.

CHAI R CONDERY conmented that he is a boat owner and gives all of
his passengers a card when they conme on board that lists his
safety rules and procedures.

SENATOR OLSON asked Senator Bunde to repeat what effect this
bill will have on sonmeone with no insurance.

SENATOR BUNDE explained that a person wthout insurance nust
notify the potential passenger of that fact and that the
passenger is assumng sone of the risks of participating in the
activity and would not be able to recover should there be an
acci dent.

SENATOR OLSON asked if there is any civil recourse for the
passenger.

SENATE TRA COW TTEE - 5- April 8, 2003



SENATOR BUNDE said there would be if the boat or plane owner
were grossly negligent, reckless or involved in intentional
m sconduct .

SENATOR OLSON asked:

What happens if you have a problem and you - there's a
personal injury wth sonebody outside the craft -
comng in for a landing you overshoot and hit sonmebody
on the side of the road or the side of the airport or
if you're on a boat? I'm mainly |ooking at boats
because up where | conme from | can alnbst guarantee
you that sonebody out in Elim does not have any boat
i nsurance on his boat.

SENATOR BUNDE maintained that SB 98 covers only passengers.
Regardi ng Senator Therriault's earlier question, if a person has
sone liability insurance, that insurance would not only cover
passengers but damage done to others. Therefore, the incentive
to continue to have insurance coverage for those who can afford
to remai ns because SB 98 does not cover all instances.

SENATOR LI NCOLN asked SB 98 places a |imt on what the passenger
can collect if a private plane is landing and injures a
passenger because of w nd shear.

SENATOR BUNDE said the passenger would be limted to the anount
of insurance coverage or, if the owner has no coverage, the
passenger could not collect anything. However, the pilot is
| iable for anyone external to the aircraft or the boat that was
injured. He said the likelihood of injury to the passenger is
much hi gher.

CHAI R CONDERY cal | ed for public testinony.

MR, TOM CEORGE, representing the 4,000 Alaska nenbers of the
Aircraft Owmers and Pilots Association, stated support for SB
98. He said it goes a long way toward clarifying and defining
the responsibilities of pilots and owners of aircraft and their
guests. SB 98 should increase the nunber of people who insure
their aircraft because one of the insurance conpanies he spoke
with estimated that as high as 80 to 90 percent of non-
commercial operators in Alaska do not carry any insurance. Part

of their rationale is this [guest liability issue] is a magnet
to attract a lawsuit that will go way beyond the limts of the
insurance. He said this is a well-intended effort to find a

SENATE TRA COW TTEE - 6- April 8, 2003



reasonabl e balance to that problem He urged nenbers to support
the | egislation.

MR. FELI X McGU RE, President of the Al aska Airnmen's Association
stated whol ehearted support for SB 98. He offered a mnor
clarification and asked that the phrase "m nor contribution from
the passenger” be changed to "mnor conpensation from the
passenger" so that it is the sane as FAA | anguage.

MR, GEORGE noted the term nology was already corrected in the
Cs.

CHAI R COANDERY noted the conmttee was working on a work draft
dated 4/02/03 and | abel ed version D.

MR. McGU RE urged nenbers to pass the bill

SENATOR BUNDE pointed out the CS is intended to mrror what the
FAA al |l ows regarding the rei nbursenent paid by a passenger

M5. DAVIS stated support for the CS because ERA Aviation is
clearly a common carrier in the aircraft aviation industry. ERA
owns a boat located in Seward that it uses for internal team

bui | di ng for enpl oyees and for occasi onal busi ness
entertai nment. ERA does not operate the boat in comon carriage.
The original version of the bill purported to include such

boats, as though ERA was operating the boat in common carriage.
The CS clarifies that.

M5. DAVIS al so suggested, in response to concerns expressed that
SB 98 mght encourage people to buy less insurance,
incorporating the policy Ilimts for autonmobiles in AS
28. 20.440(b)(2). Those are very mnimal and amount to $50, 000
for an individual, $100,000 for nore than one person and $25, 000
for property danage. Doing so would not require recreational
users to have that insurance but, if they do not, that is the
threshold at which they would advise the passenger they have
limts below and need to assunme the risk. She said the concern
is that if a person has a limted anmount of insurance, for
exanpl e $5,000 coverage, according to the way subsection (a) and
(b) are witten, the boat owner would not have to nake any
disclosure to the passenger. She said if the Senate wants to
establish a reasonable benchmark for policy limts, it could use
the mnimal notor vehicle liability coverage.

SENATOR BUNDE said he would rather |eave that to the discretion
of the person who is purchasing the insurance because a m ni num

SENATE TRA COW TTEE -7- April 8, 2003



tends to also beconme a maximum He then said regarding M.
Davis's previous statenment about conmmon carriers, a proposed
anendnent to address that concern was distributed to nenbers. He
said he has no objection to that amendnent.

SENATOR WAGONER noved to adopt the amendnent, which reads:
TO CSSB 98( ), Draft Version "D
Page 2, line 12:

Delete "who is a cormmon carrier”
Insert "if the aircraft or watercraft is being
operated as a conmon carrier”

CHAIR COADERY noted w thout objection, the anmendnent was
adopt ed.

MR, JOHN GEORGE told nenbers he was representing hinself and was
t here because Senator Bunde asked him to provide sone background
on aviation insurance. He said aviation insurance is nuch
different than auto and honmeowner's insurance. For exanple, a
pl ane owner buys hull coverage and liability coverage for
incidents that occur outside of the airplane and then buys seat
liability to cover passengers. A plane owner could have a six-
seat plane but buy seat Iliability coverage for only one
passenger. That coverage can be purchased at different limts
and is extrenely expensive. Plane owners who opt not to purchase
that insurance often do not carry passengers. He pointed out
that many small boats, less than 16 feet, are automatically
covered wunder honmeowner policies. Personal wunbrella policies
also cover them He said that a lot of aircraft insurance
policies have exclusions. For exanple, one requirenent for
passenger liability coverage is that the plane land only on a
paved airstrip so a pilot could not land on a gravel spit to
fish with a passenger on board. SB 98 would allow pl ane owners a
little nore freedom

SENATOR COLSON asked if Alaskans could expect |ower insurance
premuns if the bill is enacted.

MR, GEORGE said nost people are not currently buying seat
liability so it would probably cost the same. This legislation
won't prevent accidents; it would protect one's uninsured famly
assets nore than anyt hing.

SENATE TRA COW TTEE - 8- April 8, 2003



SENATOR WAGONER noved to adopt CSSB 98(TRA) [version D as
anended] .

CHAI R CONDERY announced wi t hout objection, the notion carried.
SENATOR WAGONER noved CSSB 98(TRA) from conmittee with the zero
fiscal note and individual reconmmendations. There being no

obj ection, the notion carried.

CHAI R CONDERY adj ourned the neeting at 2:08 p. m

SENATE TRA COW TTEE - 9- April 8, 2003



